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~TH CONGRESS, } 
2d Session. 

SENATE. 

IN THE SENATE OF THE UNITED STATES. 

JUNE 13, 1878.-0rdered to be printed. 

t 7 CJ 1 
{

REPORT 
No. 513. 

Mr. TELLER, from the Committee on Olaims, submitted the following 

REPORT: 
[To accompany billS. 1398.] 

The Committee on Claims, to whom was referred the memorial of Benjamin 
Holladay, praying compensation for spoliations by Indians on his prop· 
erty ~chile carrying the mails of the United States, and for damages and 
expenses incurred in consequence of the changing of his mail-route in 
compliance with military orders, and for property taken and used by the 
military forces of the United f:Itates, having again had the same under 
consideration, submit the following report: 

That on the 26th day or'November, 1877, your committee, having had 
this case under consideration, submitted to the Senate a report upon the 
case then made before the committee, which report is herewith again 
submitted, and, to the extent the same is applicable, it is made a part 
hereof. 

Your committee state that, under the resolution of the Senate adopted 
March 12, 1878, and which reads as follows, viz: 

Resolved, That the bill (S. 34fi) referring the claim of Benjamin Holladay to the Court 
of Claims be recommitted to the Com nittee on Claims, with instructions to report to 
the Senate what amount, if a11y, is equitably due the claimant on account of his claim; 
and the said committee shall have power to send for persons and papers, and to tako 
testimony-

they proceeded to another and further examination of the claim of said 
Holladay, both as to his right in equity to be indemnified for his losses 
and damages above mentioned, and also as to the extent and amount 
of the same under the different heads of his said claim as stated in his 
memorial and exhibited in the proofs on :file and the e\-ridence offered by 

' bim under the reinvestigation made by this committee; and in addition 
to the record and other testimony heretofore filed, your committee ce-ll led 
and examined as wituesses on the part of said Holladay the following 
named persons. viz: George K. Otis, of New York City, who wa~, from 
October, 1861, to September, 1863, employed by said Holladay in the 
business of the Overland Stage Line: as his general financial agent, 
auditor, accountant, and as a purchaser of supplies for the same, and 
from October, 1863, to September, 18b4, as the general superintendent 
of the entire stage liue from Atchison, Kans., to Salt Lake Uity, and 
who bad the supervision and control of the men, stock, material, sta 
tions, in short, everything pertaining to the said line, was called before 
the committee and examined at length. 

The testimony of Ben. Holladay, the claimant and memorialist, was 
also taken by the committee; the testimony of Robert J. Spots"·ood, 
who was a division agent and messenger in the said stage-line, in t!Je 
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service of the claimant, from November, 1862, to the fall of the year 
1866, was also t.aken by the committee. The testimony of George 
H. Carlyle, who was in the service of the claimant from the year 1862 
to the year 1866, engaged in furnishing mail stations with grain between 
Fort Kearney and North Plat.te, a distance of 650 miles, and who was, 
also, at times, employed in other important duties in said stage-line 
during the period mentioned, was also taken by the committee. The 
committee also took the testimony of David Street, who was engaged 
in the service of the claimant on said line as paymaster, auditor of ac­
counts against the line, and as a purchasing agent of supplies for the 
same, from May, 1862, to November, 1866; also the testimony of Ed­
ward F. Hooker, an experienced business man, and who had been en­
gaged in staging on the plains west of the Missouri River, between that 
river and the Rocky Mountains, and along a line afterward occupied by 
the claimant in the transportation of the mails of the United States; 
the testimony of General James Oraig, at one time commander of the 
troops assigned to the duty of protecting the overland mail and tele­
graph lines from the spring of the year 1862 to the sum mer of 1863, 
connected with whose testimony will be found a communication in the 
line of his duty to General J. G. Blunt, United States Volunteers, com­
manding the Department of Kansas, in regard to the removal of the 
stage-line of the claimant carrying the United States mails from the 
North Platte and Sweet Water route to a route south of the same, pass­
ing through Bridger's Pass, sometimes called the ''Cherokee trail" or 
route; also the testimony ,of General Robert B. Mitchell, of the United 
States Volunteers, on duty as such to protect the overland mail for a 
period of ten months, beginning in 1864 and extending over the time when 
Julesburg was destroyed by the Indians (February 2, 1865), embracing 
part of Colorado, Nebraska, and a portion of Utah. 

The committee also examined at length Bela M. Hughes, of Denver, 
Colo., who, for several years, while Holladay was carrying the overland 
mail, was the attorney and general agent for said Holladay in his said 
business. 

'fhe committee state that the testimony of the witnesses by it taken, 
viz, of the said Carlyle, Spotswood, Hooker, Street, Craig, George K. 
Otis, Mitchell, and Holladay, taken and printed under resolution of 
the Senate of March 12, 1878, on part of the claimant, is herewith ex­
hibited to the Senate, as well as the testimony of Col. Charles G. Otis, 
of the United States Volunteers, in behalf of the claimant, taken by the 
committee under the same resolution. 

The 1,ast-mentioned witness was an officer on duty on the said stage­
line from the ~ummer of 1865 to the month of July, 1866, and had per· ' 
sonal knowledge of Indian hostilities, the expense of the erection of 
buildings, the cost of grain and bay, the price of horses, and the value 
of the station destroyed at Little Laramie on the said stage-line during 
the period of his service in that disturbed region. 

The committee also exhibit to the Senate tbe affidavits of the witnesses 
heretofore filed with the committee on behalf of the claimant, viz,' of 
Pease, Flenus, Murray, Slade, Babcock, Bromley, Reid, Johnson, Ea­
ton, Carlyle, Riddle, J...~loyd, Ivins, Jerome, Thomas, Reynolds, Murphy, 
Hudnut, Quinn, Hughes, Brewer, Stewart, Spotswood, and Trotter, and 
printed under said resolution of the Senate last mentioned, together 
with the order of Col. John M. Ohivington, colonel commanding the 
district of Colorado, ordering in the year 1864 the change of part of the 
route on which the claimant was then transporting the United States 
mails. · 



BENJAMIN HOLLADAY. 3 

The committee state that the evidence submitted tends to show the 
etate of Indian hostilities and depredations along and upon the over­

stage-line, owned by the claimant, at various periods of time, from 
the year 1861 to the fall of the year 1866, as well as that, for want of 
aufficient forces, the government had been uqable to a:fl'ord the necessary 

on to tbe conduct of its mails and the vast property interest of 
claimant herein, who transported the same, in the midst of the de­

struction of a great part of such property and the lives of many of his 
employes engaged in promoting that service. 

And your committee also report the testimony of Robert Foote, T. 
B. Murdock, and N. F. Frazier taken on the part of the Uuited States 
by it. 

Mr. Frazier states that he was in the service of the claimant from 
November, 1864, to the fall of 1866, employed at Little Blue, Kiowa, and 
Big Sandy stations, east of :Fort Kearney, a period of time begiuning 
three months after the destruction of the stations on that part of the 
stage-line and the murder of many persons, which facts are embodied 
in other evidence taken before the corn mittee. 

The witness states that all he knew of the business or operations of 
the stage-line was in regard to that part thereof which was east of 
Fort Kearney. He was engaged on the line in 1864, when he was 17 
years of age, and quit at 19 years of age. ' 

He gives some evidence in regard to three or four horses which had 
only strayed away while he was there, and was subsequently recovered,. 
anti which seem not to have been claimed as lost. · 

He also stated that the stations of the line east of Kearney were prin­
cipally constructed of logs and covered with earth and poles, but could 
give no estimate in regard to their value. 

Mr. Foote, called on part of the United States, stated that he was 
paid $1,500 for putting up the Pine Grove and Bridger's Pass stations, 
which were very plain. 

TheRe stations, Mr. Foote states, were destroyed in 1867, after Holla­
day had sold out (November previous) all his interest in the stage­
line, and the only damage to either of these stations deri\red by Holla­
da,v is for injury to and depredations on property at Pine Grove station 
of eooo, and for depredations on property at Bridger's Pass station, 
May 19 and May 26, 1865, of $2,100, the stations being destroyed aftffi' 
Holladay's ownership ceased. . 

In regard to the loss of stock by Holladay, Mr. Foote knew nothing; 
bot gave evidence in regard to the price of corn at Fort Laramie in 
1862, and at Fort Halleck in 1864; and rates the sarue at 10 to 12 cents 
per pound at these places and dates. This proof is not applicable, as 
no claim is made. for grain destro.ved or taken from stations near these 
posts in these years. However, the evidence in the affidavits heretofore 
ftlt>d, and the evidence uow taken by this committee on the part of 
claimant, is satisfactory in regard to the valn'e of the grain destroyed 
and takeu at various dates on the stage line; and in this behalf the 
committee refer to the evidence of David Street, the pay master of the 
tage-lira•; George K. Otis, financial agent of the ~a me; General R. 

B. Mitchell; Ed ward F. Hooker; Robert J. Spotswood, one of the 
division agents for the lin ; aUll George H. Carlyle, who was in the 
service of the same from 1862 to 1866, and directly engaged in hauling 

purchasing grain for i~s use during that period, wlwse actual per­
kuowledge of the prices of gt'ain in that region must be parli mount. 

Another witnrss called on the part of the United States, T. B. Mur­
dock, a bugler in tue military serviee at the time, gave uis opinion ;is 
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to the value of stations on the line generally. and the value of mules 
at Fort Halleck from "the middle of July, 1862," to the first of Novem­
ber, 1863, reducing the value of the stations, by giving his opinion of 
their cost, and value of the mules of the line, as established by other 
evidence and by proof of what emigrants sold them for; but the 
preponderance of the testimony is opposed to this witness; and it was 
giYen by those who bad superior means ot knowledge; that is, by those 
whose business it had been to put up and pay for the stations, and to 
purchase mules for the line. The witness named could only speak of 
mules sold by emigrants to the West, which it is llardly probable would 
be fit for use on the stage-line. 

The affidavit of R. L. Pease, on file in this case, stated "that during 
the summer of 1863, thirty-four llead of stage-mules were taken off the 
stage-line near Fort Halleck.'' The witness, Mr. Murdock, states that 
such a number of mules was not stolen" from that station (Fort Halleck) 
by the Indians, or any one else at that time." It will be observed that 
the statement of Mr. Pease did not confine the loss to the station at 
Fort Halleck alone during t.be summer of 1863; and if there was any 
conflict between the evidence of these persons, the committee would 
prefer to give credence to the statement of Mr. Pease, who was an agent 
of the line at the time, and acquired his knowledge in the line of his 
duty. His testimony as to the loss comes from one likely to know it, 
and the mere fact that another person who had no connection with the 
line, had no knowledge of the matter, does not affect the value of his 
evidence at all in our judgment. 

Of the losses on the stage-line after the 1st of November, 1863, the 
witness :Murdock could give no evidence, as he had left the country 
at that date, as he states, and his evidence in no manner affects the 
evidence of R. J. Spotswood, who testifies as to the losses on that divis­
ion of the line, and of which he bad charge from the month of Octo­
ber, 1864, to the fall of 1866, as he states in his evidence taken by the 
committee. It will be borne in mind that the division of Spotswood 
extended from Denver west to the North Platte River, and embraced 
the region twenty miles west of Fort Halleck, and over two hundred 
miles east of that fort. 

This witness also testified in regard to the probable cost of the sta­
tions at Pass Creek and Medicine Bow, neither of which was d~stroyed, 
and neither involved in this investigation, save the mjury to the corral 
at the latter. He also gave evidence in regard to the value of the prop­
erty, houses, and barns, burnt at Julesburg; but the evidence of others 
is opposed to his testimony, and was given by those who had better 
opportunities to know the value of that property aud its cost. He also 
ga\'e evidencA in regard to the probable cost of Little Laramie Station, 
burnt on Spotswood's divbion in 1865; but the committee bas preferred 
to take the valuation given by Mr. Spotswood, who bad means of know­
ing the cost and value thereof, whose reputation was so well established 
by witnesses on both ~ides of this case, and whose demeanor before the 
committee left such a favorable impression of the witness. Besides, 
the witness Murdock was, at the time he was stationed on the stage­
line, not exceeding twenty-three years of age, a bugler in the service, 
and could not have acquired much experience in the cost and value of 
building, and more particularly in a country where tile expense of con­
sti·uctiug houses and barns-structures of any kind-was very great 
as compared with the construction in other places, and it does not ap· 
pear that he had been engaged in any such wor·k, and became thus com­
petent to testify with certainty in the premises. This witness, Mur-
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also testified that "Holladay had a just and valid claim against 
government"; and further stated, that ''all he found fault with 
that he had claimed too much for property destroyed; but that he 
t be mistaken about that." 

to conclude this point and confirm the opinion we have arrived at 
regalld to the loss of the station at Little f_;aramie, we take the evi­
ce of Col. Charles G. Otis, of the United States Volunteers, who was 

tationed on the stage-line and was acquainted with that station, and 
who gives his opinion against that of the witness Murdock, and in his 
testimony before the committee says that he should think "the cost of 
it wonld be $3,000 to $3,500," with its surroundings, stables, aud corrals 
generally." 

The witness Muruock testified that, in his opinion, "$10,000 would 
pot up all the buildings that were at Julesburg in 1863," when he saw 
them last. His evidence is controverted by the evidence of George K. 
Otis, who was familiar with the property tllere, and also by the evidence 
of Col. Edward F. Hooker, both of whom were men of mature age and 
experience, and bad been a long time conversant with business, and were 
less likely to err in a matter of computation of value tllan a young man 
of twenty-three years of age, who did not show that he had any experi­
ence in such matters, the evidence of Messrs. Otis and Hooker being 
maintained fully by the evidence of David Street, so long in the service 
of the stage-line and familiar with the property of the same. 

Your committee also exhibit to the Senate the testimony taken on the 
part of the United States, printed under the resolution last mentioned, 
viz, Robert Foote, T. B. Murdock, and N. F. Frazier, which is elsewhere 
referred to iu this report. 

After a careful examination of all the testimony in this case, your 
committee has decided to adhere to the conclusion arrived at in their 
former report as to the right of the memorialist Holladay, in equity, to 
compensation on account of the claims made by him; and this opinion 
has been strengthened and confirmed by the examination of several im­
portant witnesses on the part ·of the claimant, whose ex-parte affidavits 
had been filed theretofore in the case, as well as other important wit­
nesses who had not been called to testify previously. 

Your committee :find, from the evidence adduced in this case, that in 
the summer of the year 1862, in consequence of Indian hostilities, about 
300 miles of the mail line of the claimant was so damaged, broken up, 
and infested by Indians as to compel its abandonmrnt by the claimant, 
onder approval of the Post-Office Department ami of the officer in com­
maud of the military forces assigned to protect the overland mails, and 
to sele~t a route farther south, involving the establishment of a new 
line altogether for a distance in length of over 500 miles, and distant 
from 100 to 300 miles from the old line, thus transferring the transporta­
tion of the mails from t.he North Platte and Sweetwater route to the 
route known as the route through Laramie Plains, Bridger's Pass, and 
along Bitter Creek, and your committee :find that this removal was an 
absolute necessity; that, as stated by Gen. James Craig in his evidence 
before the committee, it W3S not possible to protect the line against the 
Indians, and it could only be kept up "with the consent of the Indians 
themselves,:' and that the claimant was promised both protection to his 
conduct of tbe mails and indemnity for his losses by the President of 
the United States. The removal thus mentioned involved the abandon­
ment of 26 mail-stations and a large amount of forage and articles of 
'falue necessary to the running of the stages, and the memorialist was 
compelled to construct new stations along the new line, 25 in number, 



6 BENJAMIN HOLLADAY. 

at a large expense, as shown by the testimony, two of which (Sage Creek 
and Little Laramie) were destroyed and one (Pine Grove) damaged by 
the Indians, wbicll destruction and damage constitute part of the claim 
made under another heatl. 

Your counnittee fin<ll'rom the testimotJy that the memorialist sustained 
by the rrmoval from the old line referred to above damages to the ex­
tent of $77,000. (See Appendix A for details.) 

Your committee further find that, in pursuance of a military order of 
Col. J. M. Chivington, commanding the district of Colorado, which ap­
pears in the printed testimony returned by the committee, the memorial­
ist, Holladay, was compelled to remove and did remove tile stage-line 
from the so-called Platte H.iver Route to tile so-called Cut-off Route, 
being forced thus to abandon some of his stations on 140 miles of road, 
and to remove 12 others to the new road, and rebuild the same at great 
loss and expense ou such new line. 

The testimony tend~ to Rhow that the damage to the memorialist of 
this removal of line under the Chiviugton order, embraeing as it did 
the transfer of houses, barns, hay, graiu, and otiler articles, and rebuild­
ing structures 11ecessary to the line, was in the neighborhood of $50,000. 
(See Appendix B for details.) 

Your committee find from the testimony given in the case that a large 
amount of grain, ilay, feed, provision1-', and property, belongiug to the 
memorialist, Holladay, was taken and used from time to ti111e between 
October 23, 1864, and December, 1865, by the military forces of the 
United States scattPred along the route of the new stage-liue for its 
protectioD;; quantities of wood, hauled for the use of sations, appropri­
ated, and even houses and stables m::.ed for fuel by them, for none of 
which vouchers were given. Your cornrnitteP. rPport that the tl:'stimony 
on this bead of claim tend~ strongly to show that the value of the prop­
erty taken thus by the rnilitar.v forces-grain, hay, wood, and provisions, 
including the houses and stables destroyed-was in the neighborhood 
of $30,000. (See Appendix C for details.) 

Your committee further report that the evidence tends strongly to 
show that the damages sustained by the memorialist, ilolladay, while 
carrying the mail of the United States, by reason directly of depreda­
tions and hostilities of the Indians along his route, was $369,739; which 
sum~ added to the other snms above fonnd, makt•s a total of $526,739 
damages sustained by said memorialist in the discharge of his duties in 
the carQ·ing of the mails. (See Appendix D for details.) 

The mails were, at a critical period, carried with a courage and fidel­
ity which deserve recognition at the bands of the goYernment. The 
aggregate of the losses is large, but this surely is not a good reason 
why they sbonld not be settled or paid. The mem6rialist has now been 
pressing his claim upon Congress for twelve years. 

Before concluding this report, your committee would call the attention 
of the Senate to the action of Congress in like caRe, cited in the former 
report of their committee, ~swell as to its action relieviug John R. Beck­
ley, a mail-contractor injurerl by the results of war during the years1862, 
1863, 1864, and 1865 in the State of Kentucky. There are many pre­
cedents for such action siuce the foundation of this government, die- • 
tated by a sound discretion and sense of justice to its citizens. 

We would also cite the action of Congress, in tile claim of Elbridge 
Gerry, of Colorado Territory, for losses by Indian bostili ties, the report 
of the Committee on Indian Affairs of the Senate, therein made by Mr. 
Corbett, a Senator from Oregon, (No. 38, second session Forty-second 
Congress~ dated February 12, 1872), with tile accompanying bill, which 
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was passed '"Tune 10, 1872, and will be found at page 701, of volume 17, 
of General Statutes of United States, allowing him $13,000. 

Said report made by Mr. Corbett, is as follows : 
The Committee on Indian Affairs, to whom was referred the petition of Elbridge Gerry, make 

the following 1·eport: 

This petition sets forth the petition of Elbridge Gerry, for the sum of $30,600; said 
claim being based upon his alleged losses in 1864, in which he sets forth his losses to 
be the amount above named, as follows: 

August 21, 1864. By the Cheyenne Indians, for 66 head of horses and mules, 
at $200 each ...••......................•.... _ .... _.. . . . . $13, 200 

August 18, 1865. By the Brule Sioux Indians, 21 head of horses, at $200 each. 4, 200 
October 21, 1865. By Ogallalla Sioux Indians, 88 head brood-mares and young 

stock, at $150 each...... . . • • .. . . .. .. . . • • • • .. • . . • .. . . . • . . 13, 200 

This claim is sustained by a letter of Vital Jarrot, United States Indian agent, elated 
Fort Laramie, July 12, 1866, inclosing the acknowledgment of said Indians that they 
did take and appropriate said stock to their use, and that no part of said stock has ever 
been returned to said Gerry. The claimant alle~es that he rendered important services 
to the people of Colorado, by leaving his borne on the night of the 19th August, 1864, 
and warning the people and the governor of an impetHling attack by the Indians, 
which two friendly chiefs ba informed him would take place on the 21st of August,, 
which information was given him for his own protection; that by reason of his leav­
ing home to give this information, the Indians became hostile to him, and have, since 
that time, taken from him said property. These facts are sustained by the report of 
the Commissioner of Indian Affairi'l, 1864, pages :.!19 and 2~2; also by letter of John 
Evans, late governor of Colorado Territory, elated Denver, November 12, 1869. 

In consideration of the foregoing statement, an<l the sworn statement of Elbridge 
Gerry, the committee recommend au allowance, as fvllows: 

For the 66 bead of horses and mules lost on the 21st August, 1864 ............• $~, 300 
For the 21 bead of horses lost August 18, 18fi5 . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1, 050 
For the 88 bead of brood-mares and young stock lost October 21, 1865......... 3, 300 

which amounts, when paid, shall be charged to the respective tribes who took the said 
stock, and shall be deducted from auy annnities or money due or to become due said 
respective tribes. We herewith report a bill for the payment of the same. 

It will be borne in mind that H~laday, the claimant, sustained his 
losses while carrying th~ transcontinental mails through the same 
region at a period, when their transportation was of highest importance 
to the whole country. 

Mr. Holladay's losses were 'er.v large and we think be is equitably 
entitled to some relief. Under all the circumstance~, we have concluded 
to recommend that be be paid the sum of fiye hundred and twenty­
six thousand seven hundred and thirty-nine dollars in full payment 
and satisfaction of all claims of said Holladay against the United States 
for spoliations by hostile Indians, on his property, while carrying the 
United States mails,. during the existence of Inclian hostilities on the 
line of said mail-route;. for property taken and used by United States 
troops for the benefit of the United States; and for losses of property 
and expenses incurred in changing his mail-route, in compliance with 
the orders of the UnittJd States commanding officer, and we accordingly 
report the accompanying bill and recommend that it do pass. 

APPEnDIX A. 

The cost of removal from the North Platte and Sweet Water or South Pass route, to 
the route through Bridger's Pass, along L~:~.ramie Plains and Bitter Creek, sometimes 
called the Cherokee Trail, or Butes Creek Route, and the damages incident to it, is 
shown by the affidavit of Col. Isaac E. Eaton (p. 12) in the printed copies of evidence. 
He was superintendent of the Overland Mail-line under Holladay, in 1862, when the 
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Indian raids, detailed m his evidence, were perpetrated. He states that Holladay was 
compelled to abandon 26 stations, worth $2,000 each, and a large amount of forage, 
and other articles of value, necessary to the running of the line, of the amount of which 
he could form no true estimate; but Holladay, who had to pay for supplies to replace 
those lost on the old line, and abandoned, under the enforced removal, states (p. 64 of 
printed evidence) that the sum of $25,000 would not cover these losses. · 

Under the circumstances, the line being changed in the face of hostile savages, it must 
be apparent that no exact computation could be made of the various articles of equip­
ment exh.ting necessarily at each of the twenty-six abandoned stations, as the removal 
was a retreat in the face of a vigilant and dangerous foe, in the midst of actual hostili­
ties, and under the apprehension of destruction to the lives of the employes. There 
could have been no time for anything like taking account of the articles left behind. 
The hostile attitude of the savages is abundantly proven by General Craig, who stated 
that the line could only have been kept up "by consent of the Indians; and the 
removal ordered was a wise measure in all respects." (P. 57 of printed evidence.) 
David Street, an officer of the line (p. 54 of printed evidence), testifies to the aban­
donment of a great deal of valuable property, owing to the hasty manner of the 
removal; and also that the stations abandoned were of a substantial character, all of 
them; and that the one at Horse-Shoe Creek, which was a supply-station, was a black­
smith shop, coach and harness shop, warehou~:~es, lodging-houses, offices, and corrals, of 
the most substantial nature, erected at heavy outlay. 

APPENDIX B. 

The cost of removal from the Platte River route to the so-called cut-off route, by 
order of Colonel Chivington, is shown by the evidence (p. 60) of George K. Otis, who 
gave instructions for it, aR he was then acting as superintendent of the line 

He states . that he made an e~>timate of the cost-lmowing the number of teams 
necessary, the distauce to haul, as well as an estimate of the loss of grain and bay in 
removal-and that be is well satisfied that it did cost $50,000; fully that, if not more. 

David Street (p. 54 of the evidence) sustains Otis in the statement he makes, that 
the line was subjected to heavy losses in consequence of the removal. 

The evidence of the claimant is to the effect that he objected to removal, stating to 
the military officer that winter was on him, the stations then supplied, the grain-sacks 
emptied into bins, and the sacks sent off to be filled again, fuel procured, &c.; and 
that the stations had to be pulled dowJl, hauled, and put up again; all which he 
represented to that officer. 

Edward F. Hooker (p. 51 of evidence) states that, in his opinion, the loss of hay 
and grain, and putting up new stations, the labor of removal, &c., would cost not 
under $5,000 a s1,ation. 

George H. Carlyle (p. 42 of evidence) stated that the sum of $50,000 for removing 
the station, and the loss in grain and hay and corrals, and wood, &c., was not too 
great. HiR evidence is very full on the subject, and minutely describes the proct~ss of 
removing stations, and' the distance for removal from 25 to 60 miles. 

William Reynolds, superintendent of the line (p. 23 of the evidence), also states matter 
of importance in regard to th.e damage by removal, showing the nature of the removal, 
its incidents, and extent of work necessary to accomplish the act. 

APPENDIX 0. 

The damages sustained by the claimant for grain, fuel, hay, &c., used by the military 
forces in the line of the claimant in the Territory of Colorado, is proven by Carlyle (p. 
41 of the evidence). He states that the military forces took at one timft twenty-nine 
bead of oxen from the line at Fort Kearney, worth $100 a head; and one hundred cords 
of wood at Julesburg, worth $50 a cord, and that irom what he knew to have been 
destroyed and used by the soldiers, he did not consider $:30,000 an overestimate of 
the damage inflicted by the military on the line of the claimant, and that when are­
ceipt for anything used was wanted it was refused. He stated that they were in the 
habit of going to stations and getting whatever was wanted by them, grain or pro­
visions, nntil to stop the raids a military order was procured, and that this damage 
was done between October, 1864, and December, 1865. ' 

David Street (p. 54 of the evidence) also gave evidence that the line was subjected 
to serious losses in consequence of damage done and property taken by the United 
States soldiers. 

Then George K. Otis states (p. 60 of the evidence) that he made the estimate of the 
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done by the military forces to the property of the claimant, and that be made 
of $30,000 after consultation with the division agents and men employed 

stage-line; that no record could be kept of the property taken or used, or what 
eaten up and consumed; but from the number of troops constantly passing up 
down the road, he was satisfied that at least $aO,OOO would be required to indem­
tbe claimant. 

iam Reynolds (p. 23), superintendent of the line from October, 1864, to March, 
stated that large amounts of grain and hay and wood were consumed by the mil­
forces on the line, the property of claimant, while be was superintendent of the 

line, and several houses and stables used for fuel and other purposes. 

APPENDIX D. 

I. 
The Indian depredations on the stage-line of the claimant, as established by the 

evidence, appear as follows: 

A. D. 1863. 173 horses and 34 mules, near Fort Halleck, page 4, printed 
evidence of R. L. Pease, total value. . • . • • • . . . . . • • . . . . • • . $41, 400 00 

II. 
Loss at 3-Crossings Station : 

April16, 1862. 22 mules and horses, at $225 each · ..•.•..••••..••••....•.• 
10 sets 4-borse harness, at $110 each .••••..••••••......... 
3 head oxen, at $fi0 each ................................ . 

April17, 1862. 9 head mules, at $200 each .... _ ...••.•....••...••........ 
9 sets 4-horse harness, at $110 each ..••.....••........••.. 
Damage to two coaches ........•••....•.•..•••....••....• 

At Plant Station : 
Aprill8, 1862. 5 mules, at $200 each ..••...•..••...•••••••......••.••... 

4 horses, at $225 each .•...............•..•••••.••..•.•••. 
20 sets 4-borse harness, at $110 each .•••...•.••........... 

!pril20, 1862. 2 mules, at $200 each .......•••....•.•..•.••..••••.••••.. 

At Ice Spring Station : 
!pril23, 1862. 10 mules, at $200 each ............•..•....••.•••......... 

5 sets 4-horse harness, at $110 each ...................... . 
1 cow and ox, at $50 each ............................... . 

At Strawberry Station: 
lrlay 23,1862. 35 sacks barley, 3,500 pounds, at 15 cents per pound ..•.••• 

At Upper Crossings Sweet Water: 
18 sacks barley, 1,800 pounds, at 15 cents ..••.....•....•.• 

Damage done to stations at 3-Crossings, Sweet Water, Split 
Rock, and Ice Springs, each $500 .........•...•.•...••.• 

1,950 00 
1, 100 00 

150 00 
1,800 00 

990 00 
500 00 

6,390 00 

1,000 00 
900 00 

2,200 00 
400 00 

4,500 00 
==== 

2,000 00 
550 00 
100 00 

2,650 00 

525 00 

270 00 

795 00 
==== 

1,500 00 

To establish the damages above claimed, reference is made to the evidence of Flow­
ers, division agent (p. 5 of evidence); R. Murray, employe (p. 6 of same). 

III. 

' Loss at Sweet Water Bridge: 
!pril18, 1862. 8 mules and horses, at $~00 each ........................ . 

At Horse Creek Station : 
lrlar. 23,1862. 5 horses, at $175 each .............••••.•••••...•..••••••• 

18 mules, at $225 each .•.••..••....•••••.•••••...•.•••••• 

$1,600 00 

875 00 
4,050 00 

6,525 00 
==== 
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At Red Buttes: 
April 1, 1862. 15 mules and horses, at $125 each . . . . • • ............... .. 
April 21, 1862. 6 mules and horses, at $175 each ........................ . 

At Platte Bridge Station: 
March, 1862. 13 mules, at $150 each .... _ ............................ .. 

$2,625 00 
1,050 00 

1,950 00 

5,625 00 
To prove the loss above claimed reference is made to the evidence of J. A. Slade, 

division agent (p. 7 of evidence). 
IV. 

April, 
Loss at Big Sandy St.ation: 

1862. 18 mules, at $225 each ............ ---~-- ............... .. 
4 horses, at $225 each .................................. .. 
1 4-horse harness ....................................... . 

v. 
At Green River .Station : 

$4,050 00 
900 00 
110 00 

5,060 00 
== 

April, 1862. 100 sacks barley, 10,000 pounds, at 15 cents................. $1,500 00 
50 sacks oats, 5,000 pounds, at 15 cents...... . . • . . . . . . . . . . . 750 00 

2,250 0 
This is proven by Babeock, p. 8 of evidence. 

VI. 
Loss at Dry Sandy Station: 

Mar.15, 1862. 2 mules, at $2QO each ................................. . 400 00 
== At Green River Station: 

April 20, 1862. 5 horses, at $200 each ................................ .. 
6 sets harness, at $20 each ............................. . 

120 sacks oats, at $5 each .............................. .. 
480 empty sacks, at 60 cents each ....................... .. 
damage done to station .......... _ ..................... .. 

At Big Sandy Station: 
June 7,1862. 4 mnles, at $200 each ................................. . 

20 sacks oats, at $5 each ........................•.•...... 
3 tons bay, at $30 per ton ............................ .. 

damage to station ....................•.•......•.•..•... 

At Muddy Station : 
June 12,1862. 4 mules, at $200 each .................................. .. 

At Bear River Station: 
2 horses, at $100 each .................................. .. 
damage to stations at Pacific Springs, Dry Sandy, and Little 

Sandy, at $500 each .................................. .. 

At Little Sandy Station: 
30 sacks oats, at $5 per sack .......................... : .. 

1,000 00 
120 00 
600 00 
288 00 
600 00 

2,608 00 

800 00 
100 00 
90 00 

500 00 

1,490 00 
==== 

800 00 

200 00 

1,500 ()0 

2,500 00 

150 00 

To establish the losses above, reference is had to the evidence of J. E. Bromley, di vis­
on agent, pages 8 and 9 of the same printed evidence. 

VII. 
At Split Rock Station: 

Mar. 1,1862. 10 mules, at $200 each .................................. .. 
1 horse, at $200 ............••..........•....•........... 

12 sets single harness, at $20 each ...................... .. 
Mar. 30,1862. 7 mules, at $200 each .................................. . 

8 sets single harness, at $20 each . .. . • ................. . 

$2,000 00 
200 ou 
240 00 

1,400 00 
160 00 

4,000 00 
==== 
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At Rocky Ridge Station : 
April18, 1862. 6 mules, at $200 each...... . . . . • . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . • • • • $1, 200 00 

To prove this loss, reference is made to the evidence of W. A. Reid, division agent, 
pages 10 and 11 of evidence. 

VIII. 
At Wells Station: 

April20, 1862. 2 horses each, at $150 ............................•....... 

This loss is established by the evidence of Johnson, .P· 11 of evidence. 

August, 

IX. 

Loss at Midway Station: 
1864. Dishes and furniture destroyed ...••..................... 

At Platte Station : 
4 horses, at $350 each ...••..........••........•..•....... 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents ................ . 
10 tons of bay, at $40 per ton .......•....•............... 

At Plum Creek Station : 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents per pound ....... 

At Craig Station: 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents per pound ...... 
29 head of oxen, at $100 each .......•...........•••....... 

$300 00 

$500 00 

1,400 00 
5,600 00 

400 00 

7,900 00 

G,600 00 

' 5, 600 00 
2,900 00 

14,100 00 

The evidence to prove these losses consists of the proof made by George W. Carlyle 
and Solomon Riddle, pages 13, 14, 15, 16, of the printed evidence, reported. 

X. 
Losses at Diamond Springs: 

August, 1864. 250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents...... . • . . . . . . . . . $5, 600 00 
15 tons hay, at $40...... . . • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . 600 00 

At Sand Hill Station : 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents ..............••. 
15tons bay,$40 ............... , •........................ 

At Alkali Station: 
250 sacks corn, 28,000 pounds, at 20 cents ................ . 
20 tons hay, at $40 ..................................... . 

At Elk Horn Station: 
65 sacks corn, 7,280 pounds, at 20 cents .................. . 
10 tons hay, at $40 .................. ·--~-- ............ .. 

At Cold Spring Station: 
40 sacks corn, 4,480 pounds, at 20 centR .................. . 
15 tons hay, at $40 ..................................... . 

At Gilman's Station: 
30 sackR corn, 3,360 pounds, at 20 cents .................. . 

At Mid way Station: 
30 sacks corn, 3,360 pounds, at 20 cents .............•••... 
15 tons hay, at $40 ..................................... . 

6,200 00 

5,600 00 
600 00 

6,200 00 

5,600 00 
800 00 

6,400 00 
=-=== 

1,456 00 
400 00 

1,856 00 

$896 00 
600 00 

1,49f> 00 
======== 

672 00 

672 00 
600 00 

1,944 00 
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At Willow Island : 
August, 1864. !)0 sacks corn, 5,600 pounds, at 20 cents................... $1,120 

10 tons hay, at$40...... ...... ...• .••••• ..... .•.••. .••••• 400 00 

At Plum Creek: 
15 tons hay, at $40 ....................................... . 

Jan. 7, 
At Julesburg: 

1865. 1 mule ...•.....•.....••...••••...••....•••.••..•....•••. 
1 set 4-horse harness ..•••.•..•.........•••..•••......•... 

On the road: 
Jan. 1865. 19, 2 stage horses and harness ...•................••....•.••. 
Sept. 4, 1 horse shot out of team ................................. . 

1,520 00 
=== 

600 00 

100 00 
120 00 

820 00 
=== 

450 00 
200 00 

650 00 

For the evidence to establish these losses above mentioned, see evidence of Riddle, 
pages 15, 16, of printed testimony; Murphy, also, pages ~5, 26, of same. 

July 16, 

Aug. 

Jan. 

XII. 

Loss at Junction Station : 
1864. 5 stage-horses, $250 each ....•.•.•.•...........••••....••• 

At Beaver Creek: 
1 horse, at $250 .......•••••.•••••..............••.•.•.•.. 

At Lupton Station: 
1864. 1 horse ...•.....•..•........•.•....•••...•••••...•••.•••• 

At American Ranch : 
1865 . . 8 horses, $250 .......................................... . 

2 sets 4-horse harness, $110 each •....•.....•..•.••...••••. 
2 horses, $250 each ... __ ..•.••....•••.•• _ ••.•••••........ 
58 head of oxen, $100 each ........•••....•.........•••••. 

At Antelope Station: 
Aug., 1864, to 
Jan., 1865. House, barn, and corral burned ......................... . 

25 tons hay, at $50 ..................................... . 
125 sacks corn, 14,000 pounds, at 20 cents ...••.••.•••••... 

At Spring Hill: 
Houses, barns, and furniture destroyed ••.•...••••......•• 
20 tons hay, at $50 ...................................... . 
90 sacks corn, 10,080 pounds, at 22 cents ..••••..••••.•••••• 

At Dennison Station: 
Barn and corral burned • . . . . . • • • • • • • • • . • . • . . . . • • . ...•••• 
25 tons hay, at $50 ..................................... . 
200 sacks corn, 22,400 pounds at 22 cents ................. . 

At American Ranch : 
Barn destroyed, burned ...•...•.•••.....•••••••••••.••••• 
30 tons hay, at $50 ..•••...••...••...•••••..•••••.•.••...• 
227 sacks corn, 25,424 pounds, at 22 cents ................ . 

$1,250 00 

250 00 

250 00 

1,750 00 

2,000 00 
2~0 00 
500 00 

5,800 00 

8,520 00 
=== 

5,000 00 
1,250 00 
2,800 00 

9,050 00 

6,000 00 
1,000 00 
2,217 60 

9,217 60 
=== 

2,500 00 
1,250 00 
4,928 00 

B,678 00 
==== 

1,500 00 
1,500 00 
5,593 00 

8,593 00 
--------
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XI. 

Losses at Summit Station : 
Aug., 1864. Station, furniture, and bedding destroyed .• . . . . . •• . . . • ••• $2,500 00 

At 32-Mile Creek Station: 
Furniture, crockery, and stores destroyed.... . • • • . . . . . . . . . 2, 500 00 

At Little Blue Station : 
Furniture and grain destroyed .......................... . 
2 horses killed on the road, $200 each .................... . 

At Pawnee Ranch: 
4 horses, $200 each ....•.•..••••••......••••..•••••....•• 

At Muddy Station: 
1,500 pounds corn, 12 cents ••. · ............................ . 

At Lone-Tree Station: 
Station destroyed ..................................... .. 
9 horses taken, $200 each ................................ . 
5 horses killed in escaping from Indians .......•.••.•..••. 

At Liberty Town: ' 
2 sets double harness, $110 each ......................... . 

At Summit Station : 
200 bushels corn, 11,200 pounds, at 12 cents ............. .. 

5,000 00 
==== 

2,000 00 
400 00 

2,400 00 

800 00 

180 00 

980 00 
=== 

1,000 00 
1,800 00 
1,000 00 

3,800 00 
=== 

220 00 

1,344 00 

1,564 00 

The evidence in regard to the above losses will be found at pages 17, 18, 19 of printed 
proof given by Lloyd, Ivins, and Jerome. 

At Murray's Ranch: 
Aug. 1865. 15 tons hay. . . . . . . . . .. .. • • • • .. • • • • . . • • • • • . . . . • . .. • . .. .. .. $750 00 

Junction Ranch : 
10 tons hay, $50 . . . . . . . • • • . . . • • • • . .. • .. • . .. • . • • .. .. . • • . . • 500 00 

Bijou Station: 
7 tons hay, $50 . • • • . . . • • • • . • • • • • • . . . • • • . . • . • • . . . . • • • • • . . . 350 00 

1,600 00 
=-===-== 

Valley Station: 
20 tons hay, $50 .....••••....•.•....•.••....•..••••..•••• 1,000 00 

Beaver Creek Station : 
75 sacks corn, 8,400 pounds, 22 cents ..................... . 1,848 00 

Murray's Station: 
100 sacks corn, 11,200 pounds, 22 cents .................. . 2,464 00 

5,312 00 
====== 

Junction Station: 
100 sacks corn, 11,200 pounds, 22 cents .................. .. 2,464 00 

Bijou Station : 
48 sacks corn, 5,376 pounds, 22 cents .................... .. 1, 182 72 

Toll-gate Station: 
20 tons hay, $50 ...•..•••..........•..................... 1,000 00 

4,646 72 
==.:..= 
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Box Elder Station: 
Aug., 1865. 10 tons hay, $50 ...•.•..•••.••••••••••...••••.....•.•••.. $500 

Kiowa: 
15 tons hay, $50 ........................................ . 750 00 

Living Springs: 
5 tons hay, $50 ...••..••••••••••....•.••..•.••..•••...••. 250 00 

Rock Bluff: 
7 tons hay, $50 .•••••...........•.....••..•.•••.......••• 350 00 

1,850 00 

These losses are shown by the evidence of Thomas (page 21 of evidence) and evi­
dence of Wm. Trotter (page 36). 

Liberty Farm; 
Aug. 12,1864. Coach burntup ...•••...••.•.......•. .••••..•••••.•.••• $1,200 00 

Elkhorn: 
Sept. 1864. Station burned . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3, 500 00 

Saud Hill: ' 
Feb. 1865. Station burnt up . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . • . . . . . • . . . . • • . 2, 500 00 

7,200 00 

These losses are established by the ev.idence of Captain Murphy, (pp. 25, 26, 27 of the 
evidence), and the value by the evidence given before the committee by G. H. Carlyle 
(p. 37 of proof filed.) 

XIII. 

Losses at Julesburg: 
Jan. 7, 1865. 2 bales clothing........................................ $1,500 00 

1 1 mule...... . • • • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . • • . . . . . . . • . • • . . • • . . 200 00 

Feb 2, 1865. Barns, sheds, houses, warehouse, telegraph-office, 'black-
smith shop, destroyed by fire ......................... . 

:30 tons hay, $50 ....................................... .. 
:3,500 sacks corn (392,000 pounds, 20 cents) ............... . 
Provisions and stores ................................... . 
1 horse taken .......................................... . 

1,700 00 

$35,000 00 
1,500 00 

78,400 00 
2,000 00 

200 00 

115, 100 00 

The proof in regard to this destruction of property will be found in the evidence 
of Riddle (p. 15); Thomas (p. 21); Quinn (p. 28); Brewer (p. 30); Carlyle (p. 39); 
Hughes (p. 30). 

Loss at Bridger's Pass : 
May 19, 1865. Flour and a. Sharp rifle ................................... .. 

At Sage Creek : 
May 22, 1865. 9 horses, $200 each. ............ ............................ . 
J nne 8, 1865. 5 horses, $200 each ........................................ .. 

1 set four horse harness ................................... .. 
Station and barn burnt .................................... . 

May 26, 1865. 
At Bridger's Pass : 

9 horses, $:200 each ...................................... .. 
8 sets single harness, $30 each ............................ .. 
Supplies, ahout .......................................... .. 

At Pine Grove : 
June 9, ltl65. Cook-stove and harness, &c., say .......................... .. 

• 

$10o bo 

1,800 00 
1,000 00 

1~0 00 
2,5d0 00 

5, 420 00 

$1,ooo oo 
240 00 
100 00 

200 00 

2,340 00 
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At Sulphur Springs : 
June 12, 1865. 34 stage-horses, $200 each._ .•• ______ . ____ .• _. _ ..•• __ .• __ ••• $6, 800 00 

9 mules, $150 each...... .. • • . . . . . • . . . • • • • . . . .. .. • . • • • . • . • . . 1, 350 00 

8,150 00 
==== 

These losses will be shown by the evidence of James Stewart, division agent (p. 32 
of printed proof on file). 

XIV. 

Elk Mountain Station : 
June, 1865. 22 mules, $200 each ...................................... __ .. $4,400 0() 

4 horses, $225 each .••.••...•• __ . . . . . . . . • . .. . . .. . . .. .. . • .. . . . . 900 00 
2 ponies, $50 each..................... .••••. ...... ...... .... 100 0(} 

5, 400 00· 

Sulphur Springs Station: 
June, 1865. 6 mules, $200 each ........................................... $1,200 00 

1 horse • . . . . • • . • . . • • • • . . . • • • . . • • • • . . . • • • . . . . . • • . . . . • • • . . . . • . . 225 00 
Medicine Bow Station : 

July, 1865. 2ponies ..................................................... . 
Corral destroyed ...••..•.••...•... ..•••...................... 

Rock Creek Station : 
1 pony ••.........••..•••...•••••.•••••...••••••.....•........ 
Corral destroyed ....•.•.•••. ...••••••••.•••••...•............. 

Cooper's Creek : 
1 pony ..•.................••...•.••. .. _ •.....•............... 
Corral destroyed, doors and windows destroyed, cooking and 

box-stove destroyed...................... .. ............ .. 

Willow Springs Station : 
August, 1865. 6 mules, $200 each ....................... __ .............. .. 

2 horses, $225 . . • . • . . ..••.. _ ..•............................. 
1 pony .... _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . • • . . . . . . . . .. _ ..... _ .. . ... _ . 
Corral destroyed .......••• -....... ....•........ ... _ ....... . 

Virginia Dale: 
July and August, 1865. ~ mules, $200 each ..................... . ........ . . 

1 ma1e and colt ..................... . ........... . 
8 cows, $fJO each ............ -~---- ............... . 
1 mule k1lled ............................ . ....... . 
1 bull killed ..•••..............•........ . ........ . 

Stonewall Station : 

100 00 
150 00 

1,675 00 

$50 00 
2fi0 00 

:-300 00 

$50 0(} 

390 00 

44(! 00 

1,200 00 
4,500 00 

fiO 00 
250 00 

6, 000 00· 

$400 00 
~f10 00 
400 00 
200 00 
75 00 

1,325 00 

August, 1865. 2 yoke of oxen, each $100 .. . . .. .. . . . .. . .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . . . . .. $200 00' 

Little Laralllie: 
Station and corral destroyl3d .. .. .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. . . • • .. . . .. :3, 500 00 

3, 700 0(} 
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These losses are shown by the evidence of Spotswood (pp. 33,34 35, 45, 46, 47, 48. 49). 
The value of horses, oxen, mules, hay, grain, harness, is shown by all the testimony 

in the case, especially by Street, Carlyle, Spotswood, Hooker, George K. Otis, Col. 
Charles G. Otis, and General Mitchell; the value of horses :fit for staging being shown 
to be from $150 to $250 on each, and mules for the same purpose even higher in price; 

. the value of harness from $100 to $120 a set; oxen as high as $200 per yoke; hay, from· 
$30 to $80 per ton; grain, from 15 to 20 cents per pound; these prices resulting from 
the state of war, the great demand, and the Indian outrages on the plains. See, also, 
evidence of B. M. Hughes, in regard to this point, taken by the committee. 

0 
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